Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

| Signature: | |
|--------------|----------|
| | 4/7/2022 |
| Sophie Obert | |

Evidence-Based Recommendations for Healthcare Providers to Reduce Black and African American Maternal Mortality in the U.S.

Ву

Sophie J. Obert MPH

Hubert Department of Global Health

Dr. Roger Rochat Committee Chair

Evidence-Based Recommendations for Healthcare Providers to Reduce Black and African American Maternal Mortality in the U.S.

By

Sophie J. Obert
Bachelor's of Science in Psychology
University of Mary Washington
2019

Thesis Committee Chair: Dr. Roger Rochat, MD

An abstract of
A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the
Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of
Master of Public Health
in Global Health
2022

Abstract

Evidence-Based Recommendations for Healthcare Providers to Reduce Black and African

American Maternal Mortality in the U.S.

By Sophie J. Obert

Maternal mortality is a critical public health issue globally, especially in countries that are considered low-and middle- income. Despite the many resources available in the United States, maternal mortality is significantly high, especially for Black and African Americans. There has been considerable research, funding, and public outcry on improving this health outcome. However, despite efforts, interventions for medical professionals aimed at reducing maternal mortality in Black and African Americans have led to mixed results.

This review aims to delve into the background and significance of maternal mortality in this population. Next, there will be an overview of how U.S. medical institutions have been influenced by racism and bias in healthcare. Next, classification and common clinical causes for Black and African Americans will be reviewed. Finally, existing evidence-based interventions will be evaluated, and through these literature reviews, there will be both individual provider recommendations and an example curriculum.

Evidence-Based Recommendations for Healthcare Providers to Reduce Black and African American Maternal Mortality in the U.S.

By

Sophie J. Obert
Bachelor's of Science in Psychology
University of Mary Washington
2019

Thesis Committee Chair: Dr. Roger Rochat, MD

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Global Health 2022

Gratitudes

This thesis is dedicated to women and pregnant persons who have suffered from medical neglect, mistreatment, and oppression based on the color of their skin.

I would also like to dedicate this to my mother, Janet, who has been my biggest supporter throughout my entire life and whose support has enabled me to be on this academic journey.

I would like to thank Dr. Roger Rochat, who served as my thesis advisor. Dr. Rochat is duly appointed to Global Health and Epidemiology departments at Rollins School of Public Health at Emory. He has impacted public health in several ways, serving as an advocate, researcher, provider, teacher, and innumerable roles. Dr. Rochat has given me continuous support throughout this thesis development.

Table of Contents

| Gratitudes | 6 |
|--|----|
| Table of Contents | 7 |
| List of Abbreviations | 9 |
| Chapter 1: Introduction | 9 |
| 1. 1. Statement of the Problem | 10 |
| 1. 2. Statement of Purpose | 10 |
| 1. 3. Research Questions | 10 |
| Chapter 2: Racism, Biases, & Disparities | 11 |
| 2. 1. Institutional Racism and Legacy of Chattel Slavery on Maternal Mortality | 11 |
| 2. 1. 1. Experimentation on Black Enslaved Women: A brief overview | 11 |
| 2. 1. 2. Intergenerational Trauma: Effects on Health | 11 |
| 2. 1. 3. Lasting Misinformation | 12 |
| 2. 2. Bias in Provider Care | 12 |
| 2. 3. Disparities | 13 |
| 2. 3. 1. Systemic Racism in Healthcare | 13 |
| 2. 3. 2. Medicalization of Birth: Erasure of Midwifery | 14 |
| Chapter 3: Defining & Classifying of Maternal Mortality | 14 |
| 3. 1. Defining Maternal Mortality | 14 |
| 3. 2. Classification | 15 |
| 3. 3. Surveillance | 16 |
| 3. 3. 1. National Vital Statistic System (NVSS) | 16 |
| 3. 3. 2. PMSS | 16 |
| 3. 3. 3. Discrepancies | 16 |
| Chapter 4: Clinical Causes of Maternal Mortality | 18 |
| 4. 1. Background | 18 |
| 3. 5. 1. Cardiovascular Conditions | 19 |
| 3. 5. 2. Renal Conditions | 20 |
| 3. 5. 3. Preeclampsia & Eclampsia | 20 |
| 3. 5. 4. Shock, Infection, and Sepsis | 20 |
| 3. 5. 5. Hemorrhage | 21 |
| 3. 5. 5. Death from Unsafe Abortion | 21 |
| 3. 5. 6. "Non Medical" Causes of Maternal Mortality | 22 |
| 3. 5. 7. Contributing Factors & the Role of Chronic Health Issues | 22 |
| Chapter 2: Methodology | 23 |
| Obert, S. J. | 7 |

| 2. 1. Literature Review | 23 |
|--|----|
| 2. 2. Commitment to Inclusivity | 24 |
| 2. 3. Limitations | 25 |
| Chapter 3: Results | 25 |
| 3. 3. Existing Recommendations for Maternal Mortality Reduction | 25 |
| 3. 3. 1. Addressing SDOHs | 26 |
| 3. 3. 2. Maternal Safety Bundles | 26 |
| 3. 3. 3. Implicit Bias Training | 26 |
| 3. 3. 4. Community Engagement | 26 |
| Chapter 4: Discussion, Recommendations, Example Curriculum, & Conclusions | 27 |
| 4. 1. Discussion | 27 |
| 4. 2. Individual Provider Recommendations | 27 |
| Advocate for Establishment of State-based Maternal Mortality Review Committees | 27 |
| Improve Rates of Chronic Illness and Promote Chronic Care Maintenance | 27 |
| Advocated for and Provide Quality Prenatal Care | 28 |
| Identify Personal Biases and Aim to Reduce Them | 28 |
| Advocate for and Protect Abortion Access | 28 |
| Accept Medicaid Patients and Treat Them Equitably | 28 |
| 4. 3. Example Curriculum | 30 |
| 4. 4. Conclusions | 31 |
| References | 32 |

ACOG American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists

ANC Antenatal Care

BIPOC Black, Indigenous, and People of Color

CBL Computer-Based Learning
CBT Computer-Based Training
CDC Centers for Disease Control
COI Continuous Quality Improvement

CVA Cerebrovascular Accident CVD Cardiovascular Disease

MDSR Maternal Death Surveillance and Response

MMR Maternal Mortality Ratio

MMRC Maternal Mortality Review Committee

MMRIA Maternal Mortality Review Information Application

NHOPI Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander
PCQI Participatory Community Quality Improvement
PMSS Pregnancy Maternal Mortality Surveillance System

SDOH Social Determinants of Health

Chapter 1: Introduction

The United States has the highest maternal mortality rate of any developed nation (Ozimek & Kilpatrick, 2018;). The United States ranks 47th out of 184 nations in pregnancy-related maternal mortality (Anderson & Roberts, 2019). Rates of maternal mortality in the U.S. are significantly higher than in most countries of similar economic standings that are also considered developed nations. The U.S. spends more than any other country on maternity care despite its high rates of maternal mortality (Anderson & Roberts, 2019). Maternal mortality disparities among Black and African Americans are capacious within the United States. Black women in the United States are nearly three to four times more likely to experience maternal mortality than their non-Hispanic white counterparts (Baker et al., 2021; Collier & Molina, 2019; Gillispie-Bell, 2021; Megibow et al., 2021). Maternal health disparities Black and

African-American individuals face are significant, reflected in the high rates of poor maternal health outcomes, specifically maternal death.

1. 1. Statement of the Problem

Public health professionals, healthcare providers, data scientists, and policymakers in the United States are keenly aware that the burden of maternal mortality is a significant issue among Black and African Americans. Maternal mortality and morbidity are an issue globally, but given the U.S.'s access to resources, it is understandably egregious that deaths in this specific population are so high. Healthcare workers can use evidence-based interventions to help reduce these frequently preventable deaths.

1. 2. Statement of Purpose

This review aims to synthesize existing research regarding maternal mortality of Black and African Americans in the United States and identify evidence-based recommendations to develop an example curriculum for healthcare providers to help mitigate the significant burden of maternal mortality. Identifying overlapping causes and potential root analyses of maternal mortality and examining racism will lead to potentially novel recommendations that empower providers on an individual level.

1. 3. Research Questions

Question 1: How do systemic racism and implicit bias contribute to poor maternal mortality outcomes for Black and African American individuals in the United States?

Null Hypothesis: Systemic racism and implicit bias do not play a role in poor maternal mortality outcomes for Black and African American individuals in the United States.

Question 2: How can evidence-based interventions utilized by healthcare providers help reduce Black and African American maternal mortality in the United States?

Null Hypothesis: Evidence-based interventions used by healthcare providers do not contribute to a reduction in Black and African American maternal mortality in the United States.

Question 3: How can continuing and departmental education geared towards clinical providers be used and developed to help reduce Black and African American maternal mortality in the United States?

Null Hypothesis: Continuing and departmental education geared toward clinical providers will not help reduce Black and African American maternal mortality in the United States.

Chapter 2: Racism, Biases, & Disparities

- 2. 1. Institutional Racism and Legacy of Chattel Slavery on Maternal Mortality
- 2. 1. 1. Experimentation on Black Enslaved Women: A brief overview

The unfortunate legacy that chattel slavery has on poor outcomes for Black maternal and child health needs to be acknowledged and addressed. Chattel slavery refers to the use of enslaved women's babies as property (Owens, 2017). Obstetrics and gynecology have a past that cannot be ignored if public health wants to reduce disparities across ethnicities and races. Enslaved women were both used and influential in the fundamental development of gynecological procedures by Dr. J. Sims (Owens, 2017). Experimentation occurred often with many onlookers and without anesthetic, despite this pain management mitigator being developed and part of regular clinical care (Owens, 2017).

2. 1. 2. Intergenerational Trauma: Effects on Health

The many residual effects of slavery include Post Traumatic Slave Syndrome PTSS. (Halloran, 2019). PTSS can be defined as a significant contributing factor in poor health *Obert, S. J.*

11

outcomes in regards to all aspects of health (Burrowes, 2019; Halloran, 2019). Generational and cohort effects on health from traumatic experiences, from war to genocide have been well-studied but often neglected in Black and African Americans.

2. 1. 3. Lasting Misinformation

The fundamental myth black people experience pain less frequently or differently has led to pervasive racism in healthcare (Owens & Fett, 2019). Not only is pain perceived as different, it is systemically underdiagnosed and undertreated in Black Americans (Mende-Siedlecki, 2019). White participants are less able to recognize or perceive pain on black faces, as repeated in several studies (Trawalter et al., 2014; Mende-Siedlecki et al, 2019).

2. 2. Bias in Provider Care

Implicit bias is the "attitudes or stereotypes that unconsciously influence understanding, actions, and decisions" (Saluja & Bryant, 2021). Implicit bias is present in everyone and plays a key role in perpetuating racial disparities, specifically in health outcomes like maternal mortality and morbidity. A variety of studies investigated how implicit bias affects healthcare, and there is substantial evidence supporting that this concept contributes to health disparity among various racial groups. One of the most pervasive ways this manifests in healthcare is the denial or failure to recognize Black and African American patients' pain. This can influence providers' treatment delivery, patient care standards, and even what interventions are utilized (Saluja & Bryant, 2021).

2. 3. Disparities

2. 3. 1. Systemic Racism in Healthcare

Racial healthcare disparities are systemic, requiring multifaceted approaches (Omeish & Kiernan, 2020). Racial inequities were exacerbated in medical environments (Omeish & Kiernan, 2020). Even among wealthier, more educated, and proximity to services, maternal mortality is worse for Black women (Anderson & Roberts, 2019). Devices such as spirometers and pulse oximeters have been shown to not be as accurate in Black or African Americans, and this is further increased with the usage of Artificial Intelligence technology (Afshari et al, 2022; Vyas et al, 2021; Braun, 2015). Additionally, correction factors in laboratory tests also pose significant issues (Vyas et al, 2021).

Kalata et al. performed a qualitative study examining community perspectives of racial disparities within perinatal outcomes (2020). This voluntary study included women ages 18-80 who self-identified as African-American and had at least one pregnancy gestated over 20 weeks. Several significant barriers to antenatal access to care were noted by participants. Out of 27 participants, only two women indicated having a black medical professional on their prenatal or labor care team (Kalata et al., 2020). Many responses discussed the difficulties of balancing work and caregiver responsibilities with accessing appointments (Kalata et al., 2020). Transportation issues and access exacerbated the stress participants faced while juggling responsibilities (Kalata et al., 2020). Regardless of a participants insurance status, there was a general perception that those with Medicaid received lower quality prenatal care while those with private insurance received higher quality care (Kalata et al, 2020). The most commonly mentioned barrier was healthcare provider bias (Kalata et al, 2020). This bias was providers perception xfzdgsradtfgv of the woman's age, race, marital status, insurance status, and education level(Kalata et al, 2020).

Lack of autonomy, trust, and shared clinical decision-making was also mentioned. Participants felt providers were uncomfortable and unaware of their values as African American women (Kalata et al, 2020).

2. 3. 2. Medicalization of Birth: Erasure of Midwifery

America and many other western developed countries have moved away from home birth and traditional midwifery practices (Suarez, 2020). Grand midwives played a pivotal role in the south (Clesse, 2018; Salt, 1996). Midwifery plays several key roles in reducing maternal mortality (Clesse, 2018; Liljestrand & Pathmanathan, 2004).

Chapter 3: Defining & Classifying of Maternal Mortality

3. 1. Defining Maternal Mortality

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines maternal mortality as. "the death of a woman while pregnant or within 42 days of termination of pregnancy, irrespective of the duration and the site of the pregnancy, from any cause related to or aggravated by the pregnancy or its management, but not from accidental or incidental causes" (World Health Organization, 2016). As with many criteria, organizations may have varying definitions of what constitutes criteria for maternal death, an implication that exacerbates the difficulty of properly identifying the incidence and prevalence of this public health issue (Mgawadere et al, 2017). Maternal death in lower-income countries is nearly 130 times more likely to die during pregnancy than occurs for those living in more developed, high-income countries (Mirghafourvand et al, 2021). The United States is an outlier in this capacity.

Inconsistencies in case definitions and measurements can exacerbate existing issues in data collection. Even during the search for concrete definitions, there were discrepancies and inconsistencies noted by both academic sources and providers. Any death due to *Obert, S. J.*

14

pregnancy-related causes is known as both maternal mortality and maternal death, and these terms will be used interchangeably throughout this paper (Mgawadere et al, 2017). The World Health Organization defines maternal mortality as "[T]he death of a woman while pregnant or within 42 days of termination of pregnancy, irrespective of the duration and the site of the pregnancy, from any cause related to or aggravated by the pregnancy or its management, but not from accidental or incidental causes."

3. 2. Classification

Maternal deaths can further be classified as direct or indirect. Indirect obstetric deaths result from existing diseases or diseases that developed during pregnancy (WHO, 2017). Direct obstetric deaths result from obstetric complications "of the pregnant state (pregnancy, labor, and puerperium), from interventions, omissions, incorrect treatment, or from a chain of events resulting from any of the above" (WHO, 2017).

The National Vital Statistics System (NVSS) serves as the source of official maternal mortality statistics used for "both subnational and international comparisons" (WHO). In the United States, the CDC uses a national surveillance system known as the PMSS to assess risk factors and causes of any recorded pregnancy-related death. PMSS defines any pregnancy-related death as "the death of a woman while pregnant or within 1 year of the end of pregnancy from any cause related to or aggravated by the pregnancy". Vital records and other available data are collected in all fifty states and analyzed by medical epidemiologists to calculate the pregnancy-related mortality ratio (per 100,000 live births). Even with PMSS, Maternal Mortality Review Committees (MMRCs) were only present in two-thirds of U.S. states, indicating a need to evaluate how the CDC and PMSS are codifying these deaths.

MMRCs will be discussed in depth later on, but there are endless webs of bureaucratic inconsistencies that need to be disentangled in order to properly document maternal deaths.

3. 3. Surveillance

3. 3. 1. National Vital Statistic System (NVSS)

The National Vital Statistics System (NVSS) serves as the source of official maternal mortality statistics used for "both subnational and international comparisons" (WHO, 2021).

In the United States, the CDC uses a national surveillance system known as the PMSS to assess risk factors and causes of any recorded pregnancy-related death.

CDC uses the following definition for pregnancy-related mortality ratio: the number of pregnancy-related deaths per 100,000 live births from the duration of the pregnancy through the 1st year postpartum (Joseph et al, 2021.

3. 3. 2. PMSS

In the United States, the CDC uses a national surveillance system known as the PMSS to assess risk factors and causes of any recorded pregnancy-related death (Joseph et al, 2021).

3. 3. 3. Discrepancies

Inconsistencies in case definitions and measurements can exacerbate existing issues in data collection. For example, many states in the U.S. just began having the option on death certificates to indicate pregnancy-related mortality. Even during the search for concrete definitions, there were discrepancies and inconsistencies noted by both academic sources and providers.

Studies conducted by the National Center for Health Statistics may or may not be exclusively related to surveillance changes and the implementation of the pregnancy check box

on death certificates (Joseph et al, 2021). Rigorous studies carried out by the National Center for Health Statistics show that previously reported increases in maternal mortality rates in the United States were an artifact of changes in surveillance. Statistical analysis of data trends shows that maternal death has declined when looking at aggregate data. However, the authors underscore the need to continue to address disparities that exist, specifically in race and ethnicity. Improved surveillance and more accurate identification of maternal deaths, better clinical care, and increased public health initiatives to address social determinants of health were noted as next steps.

Additionally, medical codings such as ICD-10 code accuracy and variation of statewide implementation of pregnancy checkboxes on death certificates contribute to discrepancies in maternal death reporting. Death certificate checkboxes for maternal death began in 2003 but weren't fully implemented across all 50 states until 2016. This is likely one reason for the significant increase in maternal mortality in the U.S. since there are more opportunities to properly report maternal death. However, changes in data collection have led to inaccurate reports as well. Specifically, maternal mortality appeared to have doubled from 2011 to 2014, but when medical records were reviewed, roughly half of obstetric-coded deaths were inaccurately labeled. Regardless, maternal mortality rates in the U.S. should be lowering over time, given maternal healthcare spending and a surplus of resources compared to developing countries.

3. 3. 4. Maternal Mortality Review Committees

Multidisciplinary teams like state-based maternal mortality review committees (MMRCs) aim to identify and review pregnancy-associated and pregnancy-related deaths. MMRCs comb through all available data, including prenatal and hospital records, autopsy reports, and any other pertinent medical records. This allows them to identify which deaths can be classified as

preventable and create recommendations based on this information. MMRCs exist and function in only two-thirds of states and use a standardized data collection system known as the Maternal Mortality Review Information Application (MMRIA). MMRCs use MMRIA to ensure each death reviewed investigates 6 key questions: "1) Was the death pregnancy-related? 2) What was the cause of death? 3) Was the death preventable? 4) What were the factors that contributed to this death? 5) What are the recommendations and actions that address those contributing factors? 6) What is the anticipated impact of those actions if implemented?" Collier and Molina neglect the additional questions MMRIA collects if applicable, including: "1) Did obesity contribute to the death? 2) Did discrimination contribute to the death? 3) Did mental health conditions contribute to the death? 4) Did substance use disorder contribute to the death? 5) Was the death a suicide? 6) Was the death a homicide? 7) If this death was a homicide, suicide, or accidental death, list the means of fatal injury. 8) If this death was a homicide, what was the relationship of the perpetrator to the decedent?" (Review to Action, 2021). MMRCs play a crucial role in using available evidence surrounding maternal deaths to determine solutions to improve care delivery and systems in order to reduce the incidence of preventable maternal deaths.

Chapter 4: Clinical Causes of Maternal Mortality

4. 1. Background

An estimated 50% of maternal deaths are preventable (Troiano & Witcher, 2018). Causes of maternal death vary greatly, but a 2019 report from the CDC found cardiovascular conditions including cardiomyopathy, myocardial infarction (MI), and cerebrovascular accidents are responsible for more than 33% of pregnancy-related deaths. A 2018 report looking at nine state MMRCs found that nearly half of pregnancy-related deaths were due to hemorrhage, cardiovascular/coronary conditions, cardiomyopathy, or infection (Collier & Molina, 2019).

Within this same report, non-Hispanic black women, preeclampsia, eclampsia, and embolism were the most frequent underlying causes of death, while non-Hispanic white women had "mental health conditions" as the leading cause of death. The authors do not expand on what constitutes mental health conditions in the context of this study, nor how it contributed (Collier & Molina, 2019). The following are brief overviews to provide context and insight to the clinical causes of maternal death with a focus on Black and African Americans. However, data was largely unavailable due to the aforementioned surveillance system and death certificate issues.

3. 5. 1. Cardiovascular Conditions

Women with preexisting heart diseases entering pregnancy increased by roughly 25% between the period of 2003 to 2012 (Collier & Molina, 2019). Both pulmonary hypertension and cardiomyopathy contributed to the highest in-hospital mortality rates through "heart failure, arrhythmia, respiratory failure, shock, renal failure, and preeclampsia" (Collier & Molina, 2019).

Cardiomyopathy incidences may be increasing over the past few decades may be due to advanced maternal ages, improved diagnostic criteria/symptom recognition, or even multifetal pregnancies (Collier & Molina, 2019). Cardiogenic shock, too, increased nearly three times during a similar period (2002-2013), with a 19% mortality rate for pregnant women compared to those who did not experience cardiogenic shock (Collier & Molina, 2019). Peripartum cardiomyopathy was associated with cardiogenic shock in over 80% of both pregnant and postpartum women. Collier & Molina suggest that obesity, hypertension, and diabetes reduction within reproductive-aged women may contribute to a lower incidence of cardiovascular disease and, therefore, major adverse events surrounding pregnancy (2019). Multiple chronic comorbidities are associated with a 276% higher risk of SMM than pregnant people without chronic conditions. The reduction of modifiable chronic disease conditions should be utilized.

Additionally, a multi-care approach throughout pregnancy of those with CVD, including risk assessment and evaluation, is essential to combating preventable maternal death. Adequate risk assessment of pregnant persons with any chronic condition, but specifically cardiovascular issues, is an important aspect of reducing preventable maternal death.

3. 5. 2. Renal Conditions

Conditions involving the kidney contribute to many maternal mortality deaths. Acute and chronic renal failure diagnoses were noted as increasing during the peripartum period, both significantly associated with mortality in those women with cardiogenic shock (Collier & Molina, 2019).

3. 5. 3. Preeclampsia & Eclampsia

Preeclampsia presents as hypertension coupled with presence of protein in urine while eclampsia includes those symptoms and is marked by the occurrence of at least one seizure (Zhang et al, 2020). Black women exhibit signs of preeclampsia earlier than white women (Collier & Molina, 2019). One eight-year study in Washington found that preeclampsia prior to 34 weeks of gestation rose by 33% during that time frame (Collier & Molina, 2019). Additionally, this was associated with a ten times greater risk of death than pregnant individuals without preeclampsia.

3. 5. 4. Shock, Infection, and Sepsis

Shock, infection, and sepsis contributes to many maternal deaths as they cause systemic metabolic failure and imbalance (Admon et al, 2018). Many maternal deaths attributed to these causes originated from other issues that were overlooked (Collier & Molina, 2019).

3. 5. 5. Hemorrhage

Obstetric hemorrhage can typically be prevented depending on several factors. Nearly 11.5% of pregnancy-related deaths from 2011 to 2014 were due to hemorrhage (Collier & Molina, 2019). Blood transfusions in hospital deliveries have risen from 25 (per 10,000) in 1993 to roughly 122 (per 10,000) in 2014. SMM rates have increased 200% from 1993 to 2014 (Collier & Molina, 2019). When blood transfusions were removed from this data SMM rates only increased by 20%, suggesting an incredibly high proportion of SMM is because of the increases in blood transfusion to treat hemorrhaging (Collier & Molina, 2019). Cesarean sections may be a contributing factor in the dramatic increase of hemorrhaging. U.S. average cesarean sections have increased by 10% (from 1996 to 2011) but there has been an associated increase in maternal mortality or morbidity. Along with hemorrhage, infection and thromboembolism were more common in cesarean sections in comparison to vaginal births. ACOG has developed guidelines for safe prevention of the primary cesarean to reduce the number of unnecessary c-sections. This is important because it is often difficult, sometimes even dangerous, to give birth vaginally after having a primary cesarean. To mitigate hemorrhage caused morbidity and mortality hospitals need to implement safety bundles, improved training, and reporting systems. California is a successful example of this with their implementation of 99 state-wide bundles and hemorrhage dropping by a little over 20% (Collier & Molina, 2019).

3. 5. 5. Death from Unsafe Abortion

Unsafe abortions can occur in a variety of ways. Hemorrhage and shock are the most common clinical presentations. Access to abortion care continues to be in flux in various states. Due to higher restrictions and increased barriers in many states, women have sought to engage in unsafe self-induced abortions. "Improved insurance coverage for abortion care through state

Medicaid has been associated with 16% fewer cases of SMM, suggesting that increased coverage for abortion care reduces complications associated with pregnancy" (Collier & Molina, 2019).

3. 5. 6. "Non Medical" Causes of Maternal Mortality

Collier and Molina "caution against narrowing the focus of maternal mortality on medical causes because nonmedical causes, particularly unintentional overdose, are important contributors to pregnancy-associated mortality" (2019). Self-harm (suicide or accidental overdose) is also a contributing factor to preventable maternal death that needs to be examined. Approximately 30% of 211 maternal deaths in Colorado over a 9-year study period were associated with self-harm. The majority of these cases occurred postpartum and over half had a prior psychiatric history and psychopharmacotherapy use during pregnancy. Evidence for this is data collected in Philadelphia over a four-year span where 49% of maternal deaths had nonmedical causes. One could argue that overdose could be considered a medical death in certain circumstances because of the systemic bodily reactions caused by the excessive use of medication (whether intentional or otherwise). Regardless, overdose comprised 40% of those nonmedical maternal deaths. Risk factors of both maternal deaths related to medical and nonmedical causes were found to include mental illness, substance use disorder, and intimate partner violence (IPV). Both screening and provision of interdisciplinary perinatal management of substance use disorders and psychobehavioral interventions are necessary for helping reduce these deaths.

3. 5. 7. Contributing Factors & the Role of Chronic Health Issues

Comorbidities such as chronic health conditions are increasingly affecting pregnant persons, which contribute to an increase in adverse maternal-fetal outcomes (Troiano & Witcher, 2018). Obesity before pregnancy is associated with SMM and mortality, according to one 9 year

study located in Washington (Collier & Molina, 2019). When looking at California births from 2007 to 2014, SMM increased by roughly 65% due to obesity (Collier & Molina, 2019). Prepregnancy obesity, comorbidities, and maternal age at or equal to 35 years old were only estimated to be 13% of increased morbidity (Collier & Molina, 2019). Additionally, this study stated 37% of SMM were related to cesarean sections (Collier & Molina, 2019). Additional contributing factors need to be addressed and identified. The upward trend in comorbidities correlates with both increased mortality and morbidity (Anderson & Roberts, 2019).

Chapter 2: Methodology

2. 1. Literature Review

My research questions are based on past coursework and an initial literature search that implied a crucial need for improved provider action and education. A systematic search was conducted to identify provider actions that can reduce maternal mortality for Black and African Americans. All literature used ranged from 2016 to 2022, with an effort to find the most up-to-date content. Inclusion criteria consisted of resources focusing on provider action in reducing Black and African maternal mortality in the United States. There was not a distinction made for legal status as evidence suggests if care is being sought in the U. S. there will be similar barriers and outcomes. Searches used a variety of databases including Google Scholar, Literature used was from then thematic analysis. Inclusion criteria studies focusing on maternal mortality, populations including Black or African-American participants, global or local study location, provider practices involved/mentioned, quantitative or qualitative methods utilized,, and results/outcomes noted. I will not be including a time range for the research publication year. However, I am mindful of choosing more current (within the past five years) publications, but refer to older sources when necessary or valuable. To provide historical context, sources that

gave insight into slavery's influence on healthcare and the lasting effects were included. Sources that included discussion on the specific clinical causes of maternal mortality were included. Sources providing insight into SDOHs and their role in maternal mortality for this population were included. United States safety bundles, frameworks, or clinical safety measures to reduce maternal mortality for Black and African Americans were included. Sources discussing the importance of and best practice for efficacious healthcare provider continuing education were included. Based on an initial literature search, provider education during professional school on the research questions (e.g. nursing, medical school) was less standardized therefore was not included. Sources explaining and critiquing the U. S. care for classification and data collection of maternal mortality were included.

2. 2. Commitment to Inclusivity

The term pregnant person(s) will be utilized whenever possible throughout this paper.

Despite most research stemming from studies focusing on cisgender women, trans and gender-nonconforming patients also give birth. Maternal mortality rates for gender non-conforming patients are difficult to even find.

The U. S. has been complicit in the erasure and silencing of marginalized populations and every researcher should make efforts to be more equitable.

Both 'Black and African Americans' will be used to provide terms that the population may identify with. The term 'African American' will not be abbreviated as AA to reduce othering. POC will not be used to avoid confusion and misrepresentation.

2. 3. Limitations

While education about the various topics in this thesis may be more efficacious if included in the providers' professional school, this did not seem appropriate for me to evaluate given my lack of understanding of these institutions' curricula.

The initial literature review produced many institutional, policy, and approaches to reducing these deaths. However, in an effort to have a specific topic and empower providers. As someone who has sat through many new hire mandatory content on diversity and inclusion, I am intimately aware of how insufficient these trainings are in many cases. As such, I became curious about how continuing education and departmental trainings could be more efficacious in order to reduce maternal mortality outcomes in this population.

The results produced robust data referring to the problem at hand and various ways to improve this outcome via policy changes or increased hospital safety measures. However, very little research investigates the root cause of the problem and attempts to provide constructive or evidence-based solutions.

Chapter 3: Results

3. 3. Existing Recommendations for Maternal Mortality Reduction

Several established frameworks exist that attempt to address the outrageously high maternal health outcome. Several overlapping themes exist within these recommendations; however, all stress multifaceted approaches. Institutional, individual, and environmental factors need to be addressed to create a meaningful reduction in maternal mortality. The following are the most frequently occurring within the systematic literature review search. However,

3. 3. 1. Addressing SDOHs

Howell developed a framework calling for a manifold approach (2018). This module addresses a holistic approach to all aspects of care while recognizing various SDOHs. Like Howell, there have been several comprehensive trend analyses of evaluating trends and social inequities in maternal mortality within the United States. The most robust examples of these analyses is from Singh, who collected data and literature from 1969 to 2018 (2021). Highlights indicate the profound drop in maternal mortality overall, due to medical innovation and increased attention to public health (Singh, 2021). However, there are still a variety of disparities that exist in this health outcome. There needs to be consideration for the past and emphasis on current lessons for advancement in the future.

3. 3. 2. Maternal Safety Bundles

Specific clinical care guidelines applied equally based on clinical implications prevent providers from enacting care based on subjective perceptions.

3. 3. 3. Implicit Bias Training

Implicit bias training may aid healthcare professionals to become more aware of, and then correct, their own hidden biases. However, research on training quality is mixed. Omeish & Kiernan suggest a multifaceted approach that focuses on improving care surveillance for maternal health outcomes and improved bias assessment and education for clinicians (2020). Targeting racial biases, explicit or implicit, is integral to creating better outcomes for patients.

3. 3. 4. Community Engagement

Community involvement and provider engagement cannot be stressed enough. Almost every piece of literature encountered in this research suggested the need for community involvement to produce sustainable change, improved equity, increased trust, and respect among *Obert. S. J.*

patients and providers. There are endless ways to develop partnerships from getting involved with local organizations, attending public meetings, or even meeting your neighbors.

Chapter 4: Discussion, Recommendations, Example Curriculum, & Conclusions

4. 1. Discussion

Many health professionals complete regulatory training and this is an integral aspect of their professional development (Mlambo et. al, 2021). How we train providers of all levels to recognize their personal biases and engage in evidence-based practices must include multilevel approaches.

4. 2. Individual Provider Recommendations

Advocate for Establishment of State-based Maternal Mortality Review Committees

MMRCs are only implemented in roughly two-thirds of states in the U.S. despite their integral role in understanding circumstantial evidence surrounding maternal mortality cases (Collier, & Molina, 2019). Individual provider advocacy for the increased utilization of this tool will create an improved understanding of how maternal deaths are caused and which cases may have been prevented with certain interventions. Establishing MMRCs in every state is the first step in further identifying how maternal mortality can be prevented (Maykin & Tsai, 2020).

Improve Rates of Chronic Illness and Promote Chronic Care Maintenance

Many clinicians within all specialties are overwhelmed and pushed to provide patient care swiftly to meet target goals set by regulatory bodies (Kane, 2022; Anderson & Roberts, 2019). Despite the demand already placed on healthcare professionals, there is significant data

indicating rising chronic illnesses in the United States (Anderson & Roberts, 2019; Howell, 2018).

Advocated for and Provide Quality Prenatal Care

There is robust evidence that prenatal care and risk assessment play key roles in the prevention of maternal death (Collier & Molina, 2019). Risk assessment was noted throughout several pieces of literature as one of the key contributors to preventing maternal mortality (Baker et al, 2021; Collier & Molina, 2019;).

Identify Personal Biases and Aim to Reduce Them

Despite our education, background, values, and experiences, we all hold biases of various levels. To combat these from influencing care decisions and potentially negatively influencing patient care outcomes they first need to be addressed.

Advocate for and Protect Abortion Access

Time and time again the link between restrictive abortion legislation and worsening maternal health outcomes has been shown (Verma et al, 2020). Racial and economic disparities exacerbate poor maternal health outcomes when safe, quality abortion access is restricted (Stevenson, 2021; Verma et al, 2020;). Pregnancy is riskier than abortion itself (Stevenson, 2021).

Accept Medicaid Patients and Treat Them Equitably

Expansion of Medicaid is a key driver in the reduction of maternal mortality in Black and African Americans (Eliason, 2022). Accepting Medicaid patients and treating them as you would

other patients with more favorable insurance is an actionable way providers can engage in reducing maternal mortality (Anderson & Roberts, 2019).

4. 3. Example Curriculum

Figure 1.

Timeline: Four 30 min. Computer-Based Learnings over a calendar year (should be taken in succession over a short period of time)

Audience: Clinical healthcare professionals working with ante, peri, and post-natal populations

Goals:

- Stimulate individual provider reflection on biases in care
- Encourage continuous education and commitment to serving historically marginalized patient populations
- Inform and educate clinicians about safety bundle components

Materials:

- 1. Computer or mobile device
- 2. Speakers or audio

Evaluation of Learning:

- Learning checks with questions
 - Consider fill in the blank options to stimulate reflection on key questions

Incentives:

Collaborate with various organizations to have this lesson established as CEU for various professions

I. Introduction and Background

- A. Maternal Mortality Burden in Black and African American Patients
 - 1. Provide local, institutional, state, or national data on Black MMR
 - 2. Consider including real patient or family stories about their experiences
- B. Explain the goals of the CBTs
- C. Reaffirm organizations' commitment to diversity and inclusivity in patient care

II. Assessing Individual Bias and Gaps

- A. What is implicit bias and how does it contribute to patient outcomes?
 - 1. Implicit bias test
 - a) Reflection on score
- B. Therapeutic Communication
 - 1. Data on benefits
 - 2. Validation of pain can save lives
- C. Benefits of shared-clinical decision-making
 - 1. Empowering patients to be involved in their care
 - 2. Improved trust and patient interactions

III. Methods to Improve Your Care

- A. Share statistics on the importance of shared-clinical decision-making on health outcomes
 - 1. Discuss/reflect on the ways this method empowers patients
- B. Explain new updates and the implementation of patient safety bundles or safeguards (if implemented)
 - 1. Provide guidance on how to access these policies

IV. Reflection, Debrief, and Conclusion

- A. Provide an opportunity for individual reflection on how they feel after receiving these trainings.
- B. Encourage any feedback on the trainings.
- C. Explain new updates and the implementation of patient safety bundles or safeguards (if implemented)
 - 1. Provide guidance on how to access these policies

***Remember to always check with organizations about using their content in your institution's own education.

This curriculum was developed without the explicit approval or knowledge of the sources provided

Who should adapt this curriculum?

Institutional clinical learning department and diversity and inclusion departmental staff should develop this course in good faith as part of annual regulatory training for all clinical staff

Research indicates that cookie-cutter presentations lead to disengagement (Brown, 2022).

There is no right way to develop this type of curriculum. However, personalizing this to your community while using evidence-based resources will lead to the most effective outcomes

4. 4. Conclusions

The current disparity that exists in the United States regarding maternal mortality for Black and African Americans is both unacceptable and persistently evident in research. In order to address this health outcome, many aspects of care need to be addressed. Empowering provides to make changes and advocate for societal, institutional, and governmental changes to lessen the frequency of preventable maternal mortality in Black and African Americans. The literature this topic brought up was incredibly damning of the medical system in the United States. There must be a concerted, multidisciplinary effort to attack this problem. Further research must be done to expand on how best to undo implicit bias, improve praxis, and educate providers about anti-racist patient care for Black and African Americans seeking pre, peri, or post natal obstetric care (Franke, 2022; Birthing While Black Congressional Hearing, 2021; Crear-Perry, 2020).

References

- Admon, L. K., Winkelman, T., Zivin, K., Terplan, M., Mhyre, J. M., & Dalton, V. K.
 (2018). Racial and Ethnic Disparities in the Incidence of Severe Maternal Morbidity
 in the United States, 2012-2015. Obstetrics and gynecology, 132(5), 1158–1166.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.0000000000002937
- Afshari, A., Saager, R. B., Burgos, D., Vogt, W. C., Wang, J., Mendoza, G.. Weininger, S., Sung, K. B., Durkin, A. J., & Pfefer, T. J. (2022). "Evaluation of the robustness of cerebral oximetry to variations in skin pigmentation using a tissue-simulating phantom," Biomed. Opt. Express 13, 2909-2928.
- AMA J Ethics. 2022;24(3):E194-200. doi: 10.1001/amajethics.2022.194.
- Anderson, B., & Roberts, L. (2019). *The maternal health crisis in America: Nursing implications for advocacy and practice*. New York, NY: Springer Publishing Company, LLC.
- Baker, S. L., Black, K. Z., Dixon, C. E., Yongue, C. M., Mason, H. N., McCarter, P.,
 Manning, M., Hessmiller, J., Griesemer, I., Aditi Garikipati, A., Eng, E., Bullock, D.
 K., Bosire, C., Alexander, K. M., & Lightfoot, A. F. (2021). Expanding the Reach of an Evidence-Based, System-Level, Racial Equity Intervention: Translating ACCURE to the Maternal Healthcare and Education Systems. Front. Public Health.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.664709
- Birthing While Black: Examining America's Black maternal health crisis: Hearing before the Committee on Oversight and Reform, House of Representatives, One Hundred Seventeenth Congress, first session, May 6, 2021. (U.S. Congressional documents. Congressional hearings). (2021). Washington: U.S. Government Publishing Office.

- Braun, L. (2014). *Breathing Race into the Machine: The Surprising Career of the Spirometer from Plantation to Genetics*. University of Minnesota Press. http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.5749/j.ctt5vkbdf
- Brown Speights, J., Edgoose, J., Ferguson, W., Fraser, K., Guh, J., Henderson, D., Lankton, R., Martinez-Bianch, V., Ring, J., Rodgers, D., Saba, G., Saint-Hilaire, L., White-Davis, T. and Wu, D., 2022. *UB's medical school implements anti-racism as a core principle of its curriculum*. [online] Buffalo.edu. Available at:

 https://www.buffalo.edu/news/releases/2022/02/021.html [Accessed 15 April 2022].
- Burrowes, Akinlana, "Post Traumatic Slave Syndrome A Literature Review on African American Community Healing and Expressive Arts Therapy" (2019). Expressive Therapies Capstone Theses. 200.

 https://digitalcommons.lesley.edu/expressive_theses/200
- Carvalho, K., Kheyfets, A., Maleki, P., Miller, B., Abouhala, S., Anwar, E., and Amutah-Onukagha, N. (2021). Front. Public Health, |

 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.664659
- Clesse, C., Lighezzolo-Alnot, J., de Lavergne, S., Hamlin, S., & Scheffler, M. (2018). The evolution of birth medicalisation: A systematic review. *Midwifery*, *66*, 161–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2018.08.003
- Collier, A. Y., & Molina, R. L. (2019). Maternal Mortality in the United States: Updates on Trends, Causes, and Solutions. *NeoReviews*, *20*(10), 561–574. https://doi.org/10.1542/neo.20-10-e561

- Crear-Perry, J., Maybank, A., Keeys, M., Mitchell, N., & Godbolt, D. (2020). Moving towards anti-racist praxis in medicine. *Lancet (London, England)*, *396*(10249), 451–453. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31543-9
- Eliason, E. L. (2020). Adoption of Medicaid Expansion Is Associated with Lower Maternal Mortality. *Women's health issues: official publication of the Jacobs Institute of Women's Health*, 30(3), 147–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.whi.2020.01.005
- Evans, M. K., Rosenbaum, L., Malina, D., Morrissey, Stephen, & Rubin, E. J. (2020).

 Diagnosing and Treating Systemic Racism. New England Journal of Medicine

 383(3), 274-276. https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMe2021693
- Franke, U. (2022). First- and Second-Level Bias in Automated Decision-making. *Philos. Technol.* 35, 21 https://doi.org/10.1007/s13347-022-00500-y
- Gillispie-Bell, V. (2021). The Contrast of Color, Obstetrics & Gynecology: February 2021 Volume 137 Issue 2 p 220-224 doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000000004226
- Hagiwara, N., Kron, F. W., Scerbo, M. W., & Watson, G. S. (2020). A call for grounding implicit bias training in clinical and translational frameworks. *Lancet (London, England)*, 395(10234), 1457–1460. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30846-1
- Hassen, N., Lofters, A., Michael, S., Mall, A., Pinto, A. D., & Rackal, J. (2021).
 Implementing Anti-Racism Interventions in Healthcare Settings: A Scoping Review.
 International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(6), 2993.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18062993

- Hill, J.E., Stephani, AM., Sapple, P. et al. (2020). The effectiveness of continuous quality improvement for developing professional practice and improving health care outcomes: a systematic review. Implementation Sci 15, 23
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-020-0975-2
- Howell E. A. (2018). Reducing Disparities in Severe Maternal Morbidity and Mortality.

 Clinical obstetrics and gynecology, 61(2), 387–399.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/GRF.0000000000000000349
- Ibrahim, Z., Brown, C., Crow, B., Roumimper, H., & Kureshi, S. (2022). The Propagation of Race and Racial Differences as Biological in Preclinical Education. *Medical science educator*, *32*(1), 209–219. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40670-021-01457-x
- Joseph, K. S., Boutin, A., Lisonkova, S., Muraca, G. M., Razaz, N., John, S., Mehrabadi, A., Sabr, Y., Ananth, C. V., & Schisterman, E. (2021). Maternal Mortality in the United States: Recent Trends, Current Status, and Future Considerations. *Obstetrics and gynecology*, 137(5), 763–771. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.00000000000004361
- Kalata, M., Kalata, K., Yen, H., Khorshid, A., Davis, T., & Meredith, J. (2020) Community perspectives on the racial disparity in perinatal outcomes, The Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine, DOI: 10.1080/14767058.2020.1786525
- Kane L. (2022). Physician Burnout & Depression Report 2022: Stress, Anxiety, and Anger.
 Medscape.
 - https://www.medscape.com/slideshow/2022-lifestyle-burnout-6014664?faf=1#28
- King, W. (2018). Racism, African American Women, and Their Sexual and Reproductive Health: A Review of Historical and Contemporary Evidence and Implications for Health Equity. Health Equity, 2(1), 249–259. https://doi.org/10.1089/heq.2017.0045

- Kozhimannil, K. B., & Westby, A. (2019). What Family Physicians Can Do to Reduce Maternal Mortality. *American family physician*, *100*(8), 460–461.
- Liljestrand, J., & Pathmanathan, I. (2004). Reducing maternal mortality: can we derive policy guidance from developing country experiences?. *Journal of public health policy*, 25(3-4), 299–314. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.jphp.3190030
- MacDorman, M. F., & Declercq, E. (2018). The failure of United States maternal mortality reporting and its impact on women's lives. *Birth (Berkeley, Calif.)*, *45*(2), 105–108. https://doi.org/10.1111/birt.12333
- Maykin, M., & Tsai, S. P. (2020). Our Mothers Are Dying: The Current State of Maternal Mortality in Hawai'i and the United States. *Hawai'i journal of health & social welfare*, 79(10), 302–305.
- Mende-Siedlecki, P., Qu-Lee, J., Backer, R., & Van Bavel, J. J. (2019). Perceptual contributions to racial bias in pain recognition. *Journal of experimental psychology*. *General*, *148*(5), 863–889. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000600
- Mgawadere, F., Kana, T., & van den Broek, N. (2017). Measuring maternal mortality: a systematic review of methods used to obtain estimates of the maternal mortality ratio (MMR) in low- and middle-income countries. British medical bulletin, 121(1), 121–134. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ldw056
- Mlambo, M., Silén, C., & McGrath, C. (2021). Lifelong learning and nurses' continuing professional development, a metasynthesis of the literature. BMC nursing, 20(1), 62. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-021-00579-2
- National Partnership for Women & Families, 2018. Black Women's Maternal Health: A

 Multifaceted Approach to Addressing Persistent and Dire Health Disparities. [online]

- Nationalpartnership.org. Available at: https://www.nationalpartnership.org/our-work/health/reports/black-womens-materna l-health.html>.
- Noursi, S., Saluja, B. & Richey, L. (2021). Using the Ecological Systems Theory to Understand Black/White Disparities in Maternal Morbidity and Mortality in the United States. J. Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities 8, 661–669. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-020-00825-4
- Omeish, Y. & Kiernan, S. (2020). Targeting bias to improve maternal care and outcomes for Black women in the USA. *EClinicalMedicine*, 27. 100568, ISSN 2589-5370, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100568.
- Owens, D. C. (2017). *Medical bondage: Race, gender, and the origins of American gynecology*. University of Georgia Press.
- Owens, D. C. (2021). Listening to Black women saves Black lives. The Lancet, 397(10276), 788–789. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(21)00367-6
- Owens, D. C., & Fett, S. M. (2019). Black Maternal and Infant Health: Historical Legacies of Slavery. *American journal of public health*, 109(10), 1342–1345. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2019.305243
- Ozimek, J. A., & Kilpatrick, S. J. (2018). Maternal Mortality in the Twenty-First Century.

 *Obstetrics and gynecology clinics of North America, 45(2), 175–186.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ogc.2018.01.004
- Perry, T. T., Patel, M. R., & Li, J. T. (2022). Elevating Health Disparities Education Among Trainees and Physicians, The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In

- Practice, Volume 10, Issue 4, Pages 918-922, ISSN 2213-2198, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaip.2022.01.003.
- Review to Action. (2021) Maternal Mortality Review Committee Decisions Form.

 Retrieved 5 December 2021 from:

 https://reviewtoaction.org/national-resource/maternal-mortality-review-committee-decisions-form
- Ricks, T. N., Abbyad, C., & Polinard, E. (2021). Undoing Racism and Mitigating Bias

 Among Healthcare Professionals: Lessons Learned During a Systematic Review. *Journal of racial and ethnic health disparities*, 1–11. Advance online publication.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-021-01137-x
- Salt K. (1996). African-American midwifery: past, present and future. *Midwifery today and childbirth education*, (38), 25–27.
- Saluja, B., & Bryant, Z. (2021). How Implicit Bias Contributes to Racial Disparities in Maternal Morbidity and Mortality in the United States. *Journal of women's health* (2002), 30(2), 270–273. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2020.8874
- Singh G. K. (2021). Trends and Social Inequalities in Maternal Mortality in the United States, 1969-2018. *International journal of MCH and AIDS*, 10(1), 29–42. https://doi.org/10.21106/ijma.444
- Small, M. J., Allen, T. K., & Brown, H. L. (2017). Global disparities in maternal morbidity and mortality. *Seminars in perinatology*, *41*(5), 318–322. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.semperi.2017.04.009
- Stevenson, A. J. (2021). The Pregnancy-Related Mortality Impact of a Total Abortion Ban in the United States: A Research Note on Increased Deaths Due to Remaining

- Pregnant. *Demography*; 58 (6): 2019–2028. doi: https://doi.org/10.1215/00703370-9585908
- Suarez, A. (2020), Black midwifery in the United States: Past, present, and future. Sociology Compass, 14: 1-12 e12829. https://doi.org/10.1111/soc4.12829
- Trawalter. S., Hoffman ,K. M., & Waytz, A. (2012). Racial Bias in Perceptions of Others' Pain. PLOS ONE 7(11): e48546. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0048546
- Troiano, N. H., & Witcher, P. M. (2018). Maternal Mortality and Morbidity in the United States: Classification, Causes, Preventability, and Critical Care Obstetric Implications. *The Journal of perinatal & neonatal nursing*, *32*(3), 222–231. https://doi.org/10.1097/JPN.00000000000000349
- Turgeon, N., Corbalan, A., Lawler, M., Gouskasian, N., & Wells, K. (2022). How a Social Justice Curriculum is Impacting the Next Generation of Emergency Medicine Professionals The University of Vermont Experience. Western Journal of Emergency Medicine: Integrating Emergency Care with Population Health, 23(1.1). Retrieved from https://escholarship.org/uc/item/7wp385jr
- Verma, N., & Shainker, S. A. (2020). Maternal mortality, abortion access, and optimizing care in an increasingly restrictive United States: A review of the current climate.

 Seminars in perinatology, 44(5), 151269.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semperi.2020.151269
- Vyas, D. A., Eisenstein, L. G., & Jones, D. S. (2020). Hidden in Plain Sight Reconsidering the Use of Race Correction in Clinical Algorithms. *The New England journal of medicine*, 383(9), 874–882. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMms2004740

- World Health Organization. (2016). Global, regional, and national levels of maternal mortality, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. GBD 2015 Maternal Mortality Collaborators. *388*(10053), P1775-1812,DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31470-2
- Zhang, M., Wan, P., Ng, K., Singh, K., Cheng, T. H., Velickovic, I., Dalloul, M., & Wlody,
 D. (2020). Preeclampsia Among African American Pregnant Women: An Update on
 Prevalence, Complications, Etiology, and Biomarkers. Obstetrical & gynecological
 survey, 75(2), 111–120. https://doi.org/10.1097/OGX.00000000000000747
- Zephyrin, L. C. (2021). Changing the Narrative and Accelerating Action to Reduce Racial Inequities in Maternal Mortality. American Journal of Public Health 111, 1575-1577, https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2021.306462